

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.



Farm size and productivity

Lessons from recent literature

by Douglas Gollin Oxford University



The IFAD Research Series has been initiated by the Strategy and Knowledge Department in order to bring together cutting-edge thinking and research on smallholder agriculture, rural development and related themes. As a global organization with an exclusive mandate to promote rural smallholder development, IFAD seeks to present diverse viewpoints from across the development arena in order to stimulate knowledge exchange, innovation, and commitment to investing in rural people.

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of IFAD concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The designations "developed" and "developing" countries are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgement about the stage reached in the development process by a particular country or area.

This publication or any part thereof may be reproduced for non-commercial purposes without prior permission from IFAD, provided that the publication or extract therefrom reproduced is attributed to IFAD and the title of this publication is stated in any publication and that a copy thereof is sent to IFAD.

Authors: Douglas Gollin

© IFAD 2018 All rights reserved

ISBN 978-92-9072-868-9 Printed December 2018



Farm size and productivity

Lessons from recent literature

by Douglas Gollin Oxford University



Acknowledgements

This paper was prepared for an Expert Consultation on "Focusing Agricultural and Rural Development Research and Investment on Achieving SDGs 1 and 2," a joint initiative of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), Independent Science and Partnership Council (ISPC)/CGIAR, and the World Bank, in partnership with the European Union, held 10-12 January 2018 in Rome, Italy. I gratefully acknowledge receiving financial support from IFAD.

About the author

Douglas Gollin is Professor of Development Economics in the Department of International Development at Oxford University. His research focuses broadly on agricultural development and economic growth, with particular interests in agricultural technologies and their impacts. Professor Gollin joined Oxford in October 2012, after spending 16 years on the faculty of Williams College in the United States. He has held visiting positions in the Economic Growth Center at Yale and at the Yale School of Forestry and Environmental Studies. He is a research fellow of the Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR) and a fellow of the Bureau for Research and Economic Analysis of Development (BREAD). He is a managing editor of the *Journal of African Economies* and an associate editor of the *Journal of Development Economics*. From 2012 to 2017, he chaired the Standing Panel on Impact Assessment (SPIA) of the CGIAR and served on the CGIAR Independent Science and Partnership Council. He currently sits on the Research Advisory Group of the United Kingdom Department for International Development.

Professor Gollin holds a BA degree from Harvard University and an MA in international relations from Yale University. He received his PhD in economics from the University of Minnesota in 1996. He has published in numerous academic journals, including the *Journal of Political Economy, Quarterly Journal of Economics, Science, Journal of Development Economics, Journal of Economic Growth, Journal of Monetary Economics, and American Journal of Agricultural Economics.*

Oversight: Paul Winters, Associate Vice-President, Strategy and Knowledge Department.

Advisory Board: Fabrizio Bresciani, Shirley Chinien, Edward Heinemann, Bruce Murphy, Richard Pelrine, Lauren Phillips, Paolo Silveri and Abdelkarim Sma.

Editorial Management Team: Rui Benfica, Helen Gillman, Anja Lesa and Marina Izzo.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements
Abstract
1 Introduction
2 Measuring farm size and agricultural productivity: conceptual and practical challenges
2.1 Defining a farm or agricultural holding8
2.2 Measuring farm size: conceptual issues10
2.3 Measuring farm size: practical issues11
2.4 Measuring inputs: land
2.5 Measuring inputs: labour
2.6 Measuring inputs: intermediates
2.7 Measuring output
2.8 Prices
2.9 Which productivity measure?
3 Farm size and productivity: data and patterns
3.1 Cross-country
3.2 Within country
3.3 Discussion of patterns
4 Policy implications
4.1 Distortions to land markets
5 Conclusions
References

Abstract

This paper considers the relationship between farm size and productivity. It begins by discussing measurement issues and conceptual issues related to agricultural productivity, including the well-documented difficulty of measuring inputs and outputs in smallholder production systems. The paper then considers the relationship between farm size and productivity, documenting patterns both across countries and within countries. Across countries, there is a weak but positive relationship between farm size and the value of agricultural output per unit of land (i.e. yield). A much stronger positive relationship holds for agricultural output per unit of labour, which is closely correlated with farm size across countries. Within countries, the relationship between farm size and yield is often negative (the widely documented "inverse farm size-productivity relationship). However, even within countries, there is typically a strong positive relationship between farm size and labour productivity. The paper concludes by considering the policy implications, if any, of the relationships between farm size and agricultural productivity.

1 Introduction

The spatial scale of agriculture differs enormously across countries and even across farms within countries. The world's largest farms occupy more than 1 million hectares – although these are typically commercial cattle ranches rather than crop farms. At the other extreme (and leaving aside kitchen gardens), median farm size in many parts of the developing world is less than 1 hectare. A common narrative holds that increasing farm size inevitably accompanies agricultural development and economic growth. As this paper will discuss, however, the data provide only limited support for this narrative. Small farms persist even in the richest countries, and, to some degree, the shift towards increasingly intensive modes of production has rendered less relevant the spatial footprint of farming.

This paper addresses a set of questions related to the spatial scale of agriculture, with a particular focus on the implications for agricultural development. How should we measure farm size? How does farm size typically change over the course of economic growth? What is the relationship between development and farm size? In particular, is there a direct causal relationship between farm size and the productivity level of agriculture? Should policymakers target farm size or allow market forces to determine the spatial scale of agriculture? What policies might be used to affect farm size? What do we know about the consequences of policies that distort farm size?

A large literature in development economics has focused on the so-called "inverse relationship" between farm size and land productivity (typically measured as physical output per unit of land, which is more simply termed "crop yield"). An old literature, dating back to Sen (1962), suggests that this relationship arises from imperfections in land and labour markets, such that poor households use family labour intensively on small plots, leading to high land productivity – but also associated with low labour productivity. This paper will explore new evidence on the inverse relationship. Much of the new evidence challenges the old stylized facts. More careful measurement of agricultural inputs and outputs calls into question the very existence of the inverse relationship: in many contexts, the apparent relationship appears to stem from systematic mismeasurement of land and crop output on farms of different sizes.

The existence of the inverse relationship has provided an important foundation for smallholder-targeted strategies for agricultural development. If smallholders are highly productive – indeed, more productive than larger (and richer) farmers – then there is no clear trade-off between equity and efficiency. Under the inverse relationship, programmes that promote smallholder farming systems and support smallholder livelihoods would both support the (relatively) poor and stimulate aggregate productivity. This belief has been key to agricultural development strategies over several decades and remains a central premise for a number of international organizations and aid donors.

In the last few years, however, an emerging literature has challenged the existence of the inverse relationship. Questions about the relationship between farm size and productivity have re-emerged as important for development strategy. This paper's contribution is to review issues of theory, measurement and evidence. This paper begins by reviewing the challenges of measuring farm size and agricultural productivity. These include both conceptual issues and practical challenges. Whereas much of the "inverse relationship" literature has focused on physical measures of crop yield on farms of different sizes, more critical approaches might consider a range of other measures of output: gross value of production, or perhaps value added, or even farm-household income. Different output measures are relevant for different purposes, but one clear conceptual point is that crop yield is not often a useful measure either of productivity or of welfare for rural households in developing countries. Productivity measures also require researchers to account carefully for inputs and outputs - or, at least, they require measurement error in these variables to be essentially classical. If small farms systematically over-report the amount of land that they maintain under cultivation, or if they systematically over-report their output, then the calculated crop yields will not just be inaccurate, but they will also be biased (downward, in the case of over-reporting of land area; upward, in the case of over-reporting of output). In recent years, careful measurement of farm productivity has benefited from an expansion of data collection and from the mobilization of new tools and technologies, such as the Global Positioning System (GPS)assisted demarcation of farmland areas, or the use of mobile phone-based surveys to collect data on agricultural labour inputs. Correspondingly, a number of papers have drawn on new data sources to revisit the measurement of agricultural productivity; see, for example, Arthi et al. (2018), Carletto et al. (2015), Carletto et al. (2016), Kilic et al. (2017), Gourlay et al. (2017), Seymour et al. (2017).

After reviewing measurement issues and data quality matters, this paper looks at the relationship between farm size and productivity. Macroeconomists have tended to look at the aggregate level, noting large cross-country differences in average farm size (Adamopoulos and Restuccia, 2014, 2018). There are broad aggregate patterns that can be observed across countries, with farm size generally larger in rich and upper-middle-income countries. Moreover, the gap in farm size between rich countries and poor countries has probably been increasing over the past several decades, as farm size has been growing in rich countries and shrinking, on average, in poor countries (Lowder et al., 2016). This striking pattern in the data has led many policymakers to argue that small farms are at best an artifact of poverty – and at worst an impediment to growth (Collier and Dercon, 2014). But cross-country differences in farm size reflect many influences, and it is not completely clear that the positive relationship between farm size and income can be interpreted as causal. (Even in some rich countries, such as Japan, most farmland is operated by very small farms; across the rich countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, or OECD, there are substantial differences in the farm size distribution and in the share of agricultural output generated from small farms.)

An alternative to looking at cross-country differences in farm size is to look within countries, where land quality and farming systems may vary less than they do across countries. Comparisons of productivity measures across farms of different sizes can be based on standardized definitions and methods. One challenge here is that within countries, there may be too little variation in farm size to say very much that is useful about the relationship

between farm size and productivity. Nevertheless, a number of recent papers have examined carefully the ways in which different measures of productivity vary across farms of different sizes. A key contribution to this literature has been the emergence of rich datasets with highly comparable measures of productivity, across large and representative samples, such as the World Bank's Living Standards Measurement Study – Integrated Surveys on Agriculture (LSMS-ISA). These highly detailed data sources have made for careful measurement of productivity and have also encouraged a number of studies that have looked closely at the inverse relationship between farm size and productivity; examples from this literature include Bevis and Barrett (2016), Gourlay et al. (2017), Gollin and Udry (2017), and Desiere and Jolliffe (2018), among others.

With new data and estimates of farm-level productivity, policy discussions have also focused on farm size. Donors and development agencies have repeatedly sought to clarify the logic and justifications for targeting small farms for investments. Is there a productivity bonus from investing in smallholder agriculture? Or is a smallholder strategy simply reinforcing a poverty trap, holding people back from beneficial transitions into non-agriculture work and migration out of marginal areas? What are the contexts in which continued agricultural development should be expected to lead to consolidation of landholdings, and how significant are policies and other distortions that prevent the emergence of large farms? The final section of this paper reviews a growing literature on policies related to farm size. An emerging literature in macroeconomics has asked whether land market failures (and a variety of other policy-related distortions) may be limiting productivity growth in agriculture, for example, Adamopoulos et al. (2017), Restuccia and Santaeulàlia-Llopis (2017), and Adamopoulos and Restuccia (2015). This paper compares this emerging macro literature with a more sympathetic micro literature that envisions a continuing role for small farms, for example, Hazell et al. (2010), Wiggins et al. (2010), and Diao et al. (2010). An overall conclusion is that where land markets work well, there is no particular reason for policy to try to drive changes in farm size. In contexts where land markets are poorly developed, however, the paper argues that there may be reasons to try to reduce frictions in land markets and to facilitate land transactions. However, the potential productivity benefits must be weighed against the distributional impacts, the political realities and other factors.

2 Measuring farm size and agricultural productivity: conceptual and practical challenges

To understand the relationship between farm size and productivity, it is necessary to develop useful measures of both variables. Perhaps surprisingly, it is not straightforward to measure either one. Both conceptual issues and practical difficulties arise. A prior challenge is to define a farm. This is difficult simply because there is no clear-cut threshold at which a garden becomes a crop farm, nor is there some point at which a household that keeps a few chickens turns into a poultry farm. In many developing countries, almost all rural households produce some food, and even many urban households may keep animals or maintain kitchen gardens. In rich countries, too, data often reveal a large number of very small production units, well below the size threshold at which they would represent a primary source of livelihood for an individual or a family. Without defining a farm, however, it is not possible to discuss the distribution of farm size. In turn, any discussion of the relationship between farm size and productivity must account for the differing definitions of farms, the various ways of measuring farm size, and the challenges of assessing productivity.

2.1 Defining a farm or agricultural holding

For the purposes of discussing farm size, there needs to be some way of defining or characterizing a farm. Many households produce agricultural goods, but not all of them would sensibly be characterized as farms. Even in developing countries, survey data often reveal that many urban households produce some agricultural goods. There may also be legal or tax advantages, in some countries, for households or landowners to claim that they are engaged in agriculture. (For instance, agricultural households may receive various subsidies or benefits from the government, or they may be subject to land taxation at a different rate.) Political leaders and government departments may also find it useful to draw on particular definitions of farms. For instance, in many rich countries, agricultural sector, since it allows them to claim large romstituencies – and correspondingly protects them from the perception that they are advocating for a small number of large producers.

In the United States, for example, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) defines a farm as "any place from which US\$1,000 or more of agricultural products were sold or would normally have been sold during a given year" (Hoppe, 2014), a generous definition that leads to a massively skewed size distribution of farms, with nearly 60 per cent of the 2.1 million total farms designated as "retirement farms" or "off-farm occupation farms." These 1.3 million farms account for only 6.6 per cent of total production value (Hoppe, 2014, **table 1**, p. 11). Including these farms in measures of farm size or productivity will have substantial implications, quantitatively speaking. To see this, consider United States crop farms. In 2011,

the median size of a United States crop farm was 18 hectares, and over 15 per cent of crop farms were smaller than 4 hectares (MacDonald et al., 2013). However, these very small crop farms accounted for small fractions of total output. The USDA uses a definition of a "midpoint" measure of farm size, which is the farm size, such that half the cropland is on larger farms and half the cropland is on smaller farms. By this measure, the midpoint crop farm in 2011 was nearly 450 hectares.

Similar issues arise for defining and measuring farm size in the context of European agriculture. The European Union counted just over 12.2 million "agricultural holdings" in its 2010 agricultural census, of which 49 per cent were smaller than 2 hectares, when measured in terms of land area; fully 80 per cent were smaller than 10 hectares. However, a small number of holdings (under 3 per cent) accounted for over half of the farmed area in the European Union, reflecting the skewed size distribution. The European Union statistical approach to farm size measurement also uses a measure of "standard output" (SO), which is defined in terms of "the average monetary value of the agricultural output at farm-gate price, in euro per hectare or per head of livestock." This is based on the expected gross margin that a farm would receive based on its size and activity mix (where size is measured in area or other appropriate metric, such as the number of heads of livestock), adjusted by a regional coefficient intended to capture local variation in productivity and prices. By this measure, 45 per cent of agricultural holdings in the European Union had an SO of less than €2,000 in the 2010 agricultural census. Of the 6.8 million holdings with an SO of €2,000 or more, nearly two thirds (65.5 per cent) had an SO of less than €15,000.

The point here is twofold. First, farm size cannot be defined independent of a definition of a farm. Second, small farms are ubiquitous even in rich countries, with the United States and the European Union both characterized by large numbers of extremely small farms – admittedly accounting for relatively small fractions of land area, gross output value, and value added. Because of the strongly skewed distributions, neither the mean nor the median is a particularly useful statistic for characterizing the farm size distribution. The midpoint value (as defined above) is substantially more useful, as it is much less sensitive to the numbers of tiny farms included under any given definition.

2.2 Measuring farm size: conceptual issues

Farm size can be measured in a number of different ways, even once the "farm" itself has been defined as an entity. Much analysis focuses on the amount of agricultural land that is managed by the farm. This is often (but not always) a useful measure for crop farms, but it is substantially less useful for animal agriculture, for which land area is a poor measure of farm size in both extensive and intensive production systems. Even on crop farms, there is a great deal of variation in the intensity of production, with some crops (e.g. berries or vegetables) produced under far more intensive conditions than is true for other crops (e.g. grains and legumes). In the extreme case, greenhouse agriculture and hydroponic production systems may have very small spatial scale. Traditional measures of land area deal with this by considering the "area planted" or "area harvested," both of which allow for multiple cropping. Thus, a greenhouse might be treated as a small land area that is planted and harvested multiple times in a single year. In the extreme, however, production cycles are continuous and the area under cultivation is not well defined. The conceptual problems of measuring crop area are not limited to high-intensity systems in rich countries; similar issues also arise for some crops grown in low-intensity systems in developing country contexts. One well-known and problematic example is cassava cultivation, where individual cassava plants may be left to grow amid fields of other crops. There is no fixed harvest date, and indeed in some cases the cassava may never be harvested. (Cassava may be planted in some settings as a kind of "insurance policy," but if conditions are sufficiently good, the policy is never cashed in.) Thus, the total area planted to cassava may be difficult to measure – or even to estimate. But cassava may also be harvested in a continuous fashion from the same plants, with leaves and/or tubers harvested as need arises or demand dictates. In this context, the quantity harvested and the frequency of harvest are endogenous.

A similar problem arises in developing country contexts with the measurement of cropland area for mixed farming systems – e.g. those that combine multiple crops, or those that combine crop agriculture with livestock production or aquaculture. In these production systems, the land area under cultivation may serve simultaneously to support several different activities, some of which are purely agricultural and some of which may involve non-agricultural components. For instance, an agricultural household may grow some food crops, produce fodder, keep cattle, and sell butter and cheese or other processed foods. In some sense, the entire farm income can be seen as the economic output of the land, and the area under cultivation is not a particularly useful measure of the size of the enterprise. Development economists have recognized for some time that agricultural households in developing countries are best understood as the operators of complex household enterprises. But measuring the size of this enterprise is neither simple nor straightforward, and the land area under cultivation may not capture it well.

As alternatives to measuring cropped area, farm size can be measured in terms of production value (gross or net), labour use or capital value. All of these are economic measures, rather than physical production measures, and they reflect the choices and constraints of the farm household. In this sense, they can be problematic as measures of farm size. For instance, a large commercial farm may use very little capital and a great deal of labour (e.g. a vegetable farm in a non-mechanized setting), or a lot of capital and little labour (e.g. a grain farm in a highly mechanized setting), or almost any combination of the two. The size ranking of these farms will depend on the measure being used.

Much of the literature on farm size and productivity attempts to dodge the deeper questions here by focusing exclusively on crop agriculture and using land area as the measure of farm size. This indeed simplifies the analysis, but it raises a number of questions about whether the observed relationships between farm size and productivity are actually based on sensible comparisons of like with like, or whether the analysis omits important differences in land quality, market access and other variables.

2.3 Measuring farm size: practical issues

Beyond these purely conceptual issues in measuring farm size, there are numerous issues that arise in the actual collection of representative data on farm size. One of the main problems is related to sampling. Both large and small farms can be difficult to capture adequately in standard survey designs. This may be less of a problem in advanced countries, where administrative data may lend themselves to the construction of a full census or a sample based on the census of farms. Even in this setting, however, the census data may miss small farms that are on the cusp of the classification. For instance, in the United States context, there may be small farms that could, in principle, meet the threshold of selling US\$1,000 of produce in a typical year, but some of these operations may not choose to register with the USDA, and indeed some of them may simply not participate in the agricultural cash economy.

In the context of developing countries, the corresponding problem is typically with capturing large commercial farms in the data. Much of the agricultural data that we have for developing countries is based on household surveys. These do a good job of capturing family farms – and even the relatively small garden plots and animal-keeping activities of urban households. But household surveys are not designed to account for large commercial farms, so these data sources are not particularly helpful for providing information about plantations or large farms.

An alternative to household surveys is the use of geographic sampling frames (or "area sampling frames"), in which (for example) the sample is of representative blocks of land (Gallego, 2015). This approach is more likely to capture large farms, but it may be administratively more difficult and costlier to conduct than a household survey, especially in a developing country where plots are small and where an individual household's plots may be spatially dispersed around a village. In such a context, there may be a large number of households associated with any given block of farmland, making it challenging to collect useful socio-economic data for each household. A number of recent studies have sought to use remote sensing to estimate farm size, but this is problematic if individual farms are divided into multiple non-contiguous plots, as is commonplace in many developing country contexts. In settings like these, remote sensing may do a reasonable job of estimating the distribution of *plot* size, but this is different from farm size.¹

2.4 Measuring inputs: land

Given a farm, it seems relatively straightforward to measure the land area. But, as with everything else, the issue is more complicated in practice. A first challenge is to work out the full set of plots associated with a particular farm household. This may be complicated, however; individual household members may have overlapping rights to land with members of other households. For instance, a woman may have some rights (and obligations) that involve farming a plot of land that is jointly owned with her brother, who lives in a different household – and even in a different village. A plot of land within one village may be shared by multiple households. Within the same household, different individuals may farm different plots of land. What is a "farm"? Should we think of all the landholdings farmed by a particular manager? Or those owned by the individuals who make up a specific household? Issues such as this have given rise to a wealth of analyses, and many household surveys now ask questions at a level of detail sufficient to allow the researcher to choose a definition that is useful for a particular purpose and a particular context.

Measuring land area itself can be done by asking farmers to self-report the size of their plots or else by using other measures, such as using a rope and compass to map each plot -a

^{1.} It is also worth noting that techniques for identifying plots from remote sensing remain in their infancy, except for the relatively simple case of fairly large monocropped fields under relatively weed-free cultivation. In smallholder settings (e.g. in African conditions), remote-sensing methods remain rudimentary. One part of the problem is the required spatial, spectral and temporal resolution for the satellite imagery. The other part of the problem is developing reliable crop classification models that are calibrated for smallholder farming systems.

technique that is considered the most accurate method (Carletto et al., 2016). In recent years, many surveys have shifted to the use of handheld GPS devices for measuring plot area. The evidence suggests that GPS measurement can be an effective tool for assessing land area, although it requires careful training of enumerators and can be costly, as it requires the enumerators to visit every plot on the farm and to walk the perimeter of each plot. GPS measurement is subject to its own errors, for example, from enumerators cutting off the corners of plots to save time or to avoid walking through wet areas or thickets. Kilic et al. (2017) discuss the biases introduced by missing data in GPS-based land area measures in large-scale household surveys, but they argue that careful multiple imputation of values for the missing data can work effectively to overcome these biases.

A more consequential issue, perhaps, than the area of land is the quality of land. For the purposes of agricultural production, land quality matters along many dimensions and in complex ways. Some land characteristics are observable – at least in principle. For instance, many surveys collect data on soil type, slope and topography. But there are many other potential dimensions of land and soil quality, and these may also interact in complex ways with other variables – for example, weather – making it difficult to control effectively for land quality in standard productivity analyses. The observable components of land quality are not the only relevant dimensions, however; Gollin and Udry (2017) argue that unobservable heterogeneity in land quality is quantitatively important in accounting for differences in productivity across farms. Gollin and Udry (2017) show that individual farmers frequently obtain very different levels of physical productivity on different plots on which they cultivate identical crops. Some of the differences in output reflect shocks to production, such as late-season losses to weather or pests. However, there is also evidence that farmers themselves are aware of subtle differences in land quality and are choosing inputs to optimize production in relation to this heterogeneity.

What this means is that simple comparisons of output per unit of land across farms or households must not be taken as clear evidence for differences in productivity or efficiency. To the extent that the intrinsic properties of the land differ, one should be cautious in treating land area – however well measured – as the correct way to quantify the land input. In some sense, what we need for productivity analysis is a measure of "effective land units" rather than a crude measure of land area. Collecting data on observable characteristics of land is helpful; as noted by Gollin and Udry (2017), the measured observables are overwhelmingly significant, individually and jointly, in explaining output. But the observable characteristics of land quality have little quantitative ability to account for differences in productivity at the farm level. By contrast, unobservable characteristics appear to be quantitatively very important (Gollin and Udry, 2017).

Meaningful comparisons of productivity across farms of different sizes will need to account properly for land quality as well as land area. Many studies that have supported the existence of an inverse relationship have relied on within-country comparisons of farm size and productivity that do not account carefully for differences in land quality. To the extent that large farms tend to be found in areas of low inherent land quality, where land is cheaper and less desirable, these calculations may be conflating the poor quality of the land with the productivity of large farms. The quantification of land inputs thus remains a challenging area for productivity measurement. Both land area and land quality may be challenging to measure and to translate into economically useful terms.

2.5 Measuring inputs: labour

Other than land, labour is the most significant input into agricultural production. It is also the most difficult to measure, for both conceptual reasons and practical reasons. Early productivity studies simply attempted to quantify the number of people working on a farm, perhaps assigning different weights to adults and children (or, in many cases, adult men, adult women and children). To the extent that rural households engage in non-farm activities, however, it is important to account for the hours worked in agriculture, as opposed to time spent in non-agricultural market activities, home production and leisure. This has led to a new standard approach in household surveys of asking individuals about the total hours of labour used on each of a household's plots – including both hired labour and family labour. In the most detailed surveys, data are collected on the specific tasks carried out on each plot, such as land preparation, planting, weeding and harvesting. The new approach allows for the construction of aggregate labour measures on each plot – through applying some kind of weighting to the labour of different household members – as well as for an account of hired labour.

In principle, an approach of this kind should capture the full use of farm labour. In practice, however, the results appear to be quite sensitive to the frequency with which households are asked to report, the particular individual(s) who are asked to report, the season at which the report takes place, and the length of the recall period. An interesting experimental approach (Arthi et al., 2018) shows the extent to which the form of the survey affects conclusions about total farm labour use; the authors find that asking Tanzanian farmers, at the end of the growing season, to provide an estimate of their hours worked on the farm leads to a very large overestimate of agricultural labour relative to what is calculated by adding up the responses to more frequent queries covering shorter recall periods. A similar data experiment in Ghana also finds that end-of-season recall methods overestimate total labour uses, but by smaller amounts (Gaddis et al., 2017).

What is less clear is whether a plot-by-plot and week-by-week summation of hours worked on the farm is an adequate measure of agricultural labour. Some farm work does not take place on any plot, for example, purchasing inputs in town or marketing output. Both of these are, in principle, activities that should be attributed to the agricultural enterprise. Maintenance of tools and equipment, storage of harvested crops, and acquiring information about markets (and even talking with other farmers about technologies and markets, which may be difficult to distinguish from leisure) should all, in principle, be counted as part of farm labour, but none of these will necessarily be captured by a plot-by-plot record of time use. Many agricultural households also carry out non-crop activities that are done in small units of effort: feeding the chickens as part of the morning routine or collecting their eggs, or gathering forage from the roadside for the family cow, for example. To the extent that many of these activities are carried out by women – who may not even perceive them as "farm labour" – their omission in "summation-based" estimates of agricultural labour may systematically understate the contributions of women (Palacios-Lopez et al., 2017) and may also understate the total amount of household labour used in agriculture (Doss, 2018).

Time use data also do not distinguish levels of effort or skill, both of which in some sense should be quantified in our measures of "effective labour units." We know that there are important differences across individuals in both effort and skill; hired labour is typically reserved only for certain tasks where effort and skill are easily monitored. Families typically assign different individuals to different tasks, presumably reflecting perceptions of skill and comparative advantage. Seymour et al. (2017) discuss some of the other challenges of measuring labour input through time use surveys.

We also know that an hour of labour, carried out on the same plot by the same individual, will have a very different marginal product at different moments in the growing season. An hour of weeding just after the first rains may make much more difference for yield than an hour of weeding at the end of the season. Many tasks, such as land preparation and planting, are extremely time-sensitive. An hour at the right point in time may have a far higher value than an hour spent in futility after the appropriate window has closed.

Current research is attempting to measure labour effort through activity trackers and similar "objective" measures of physical effort (Akogun et al., 2017). However, the key determinants of labour effectiveness may depend on timing, knowledge, skill and attentiveness – qualities that are far more difficult to assess through external monitoring or tracking.

How does the difficulty of measuring agricultural labour affect our understanding of productivity differences on large and small farms? To the extent that very large farms may use hired labour, the total labour input may be quite easy to capture. In fact, the more hired labour that a farm uses, the more easily the labour input will be measured, at least conditional on effective record-keeping. On small farms, where most (or much) of the labour is provided by family members, and where farm tasks may be difficult to discern from leisure and offfarm activities, current summation-based methods of estimating farm labour may tend to undercount the labour inputs into agriculture and hence to overstate the average labour productivity of small farms relative to large farms or non-farm activities. Alternatively, if we believe that the summation-based measures are accurate, then self-reported measures of labour use probably overstate actual labour use and hence underestimate labor productivity on small farms.

In fact, where farming is essentially a full-time activity, the old aggregate measures may actually be a fairly useful measure of labour input. Individuals who are full-time farmers throughout the year should probably be understood as providing a person-year of farm labour. For many purposes, it is not clear that it is feasible or useful to break this down into a specific number of hours worked. Consider a farmer who wakes up in the morning listening to the farm report and the weather forecast on the radio, spends the morning cleaning out the grain store and setting traps for rats and other rodents that eat the grain, then travels in the afternoon to a farmer field day conducted by the local extension officer, stops at the agri-dealer to purchase medicine for the family cow, and returns home in time to feed the chickens and close them up in the hen house for the night. By the summation-based measures, this farmer has supplied zero hours of agricultural labour. It is surely more useful and more informative to say that this individual, as a full-time farmer, is supplying a personday of agricultural labour.

A final note is that summation-based measures, which are typically linked to crop agriculture and plot-level activities, tend to overstate seasonal differences in agricultural labour use. Farming systems typically allocate a number of non-plot-level farming tasks to off-season parts of the crop calendar. This may include some animal agriculture activities (often not counted in summation-based measures) and many other non-specific farm activities and rural household activities. Conclusions about the total labour use in agriculture and about seasonal patterns of labour slackness should recognize that summation-based measures tend to omit these activities.

2.6 Measuring inputs: intermediates

Many farmers in poor countries, such as those of sub-Saharan Africa, use few intermediate inputs. Some will purchase seed and/or fertilizer; for certain crops and contexts, other agricultural chemicals are used. The quantities and purchase prices of these intermediate goods are often recalled by farmers with a reasonable degree of accuracy. In this sense, there are fewer measurement issues than with land and labour. However, an increasing body of evidence suggests that farmers who purchase intermediate inputs do not necessarily get what they think they are purchasing (Ashour et al., 2016; Bold et al., 2017; Michelson, 2017). Analysis suggests that the quality, purity and composition of fertilizer and herbicide may differ from what farmers believe they are purchasing. In a similar vein, methodological survey experiments that have been supported by the CGIAR Standing Panel on Impact Assessment (SPIA) and that have revealed, in the context of a wide range of crops and countries, that farmers are frequently either misinformed or uninformed (Kosmowski et al., 2018).

Typically, intermediate inputs are included in productivity analyses either as controls (e.g. a binary dummy variable indicating whether or not a household reports using improved seed or fertilizer) or as measured input quantities or values. Either way, the measurement of these inputs will be important for productivity calculations. A plausible conjecture – not yet tested systematically – is that the problem of counterfeit or incorrectly labelled inputs may be a particular challenge for small farmers, who do not buy in bulk. Farmers who purchase small amounts of "fertilizer" taken from open bags may be more likely to get an adulterated product than those who can afford to purchase a whole bag in its original packaging. Similarly, larger farmers may be more likely to purchase seed from reputable dealers – again, sealed in original packaging – where small farmers may purchase seed from bulk supplies that are of lower quality. Even if there is no deliberate adulteration of the seed or fertilizer, these bulk supplies may have been stored with less care and may have become contaminated or diluted through oversight or poor management.

As a result, it is not unlikely that intermediate input quality varies between smallholders and large-scale farmers. If these conjectures are correct, they would tend to make smallholders appear less productive in terms of their effective use of inputs, and their profitability may also be negatively affected.

2.7 Measuring output

Measuring the physical output of agriculture ought to be straightforward, in the sense that the output is physically observable, potentially even in terms of quality as well as quantity. The gold standard for measuring crop output for cereal grains is the crop cut, in which grain is harvested, dried and weighed on a representative sample of plots, typically in randomly selected square subplots (e.g. $2 \text{ m} \times 2 \text{ m}$ or $4 \text{ m} \times 4 \text{ m}$, but seldom larger than 10 m \times 10 m). Even crop cuts have measurement issues, though: standard practice calls for

avoiding field edges, which may lead to non-representative measures on small plots that have proportionately large edge areas. More significantly, however, crop cutting is costly to administer on a large scale and difficult to implement in a survey. For instance, crop cuts necessarily need to take place at harvest time, which means that they must be carried out within a narrow window of time.²

The challenges to carrying out crop cuts on a large scale are compounded by the difficulty of measuring output on crops that are harvested continuously (e.g. vegetables such as tomatoes, or fruits) or intermittently and irregularly (e.g. cassava). For these crops, measures of yield must depend on the aggregation of harvest over some period of time – and then generalizing to a time period such as a year. This is a process that raises many more measurement questions. Should the output measures include, for example, the tomatoes that spoil on the vine and are never harvested by farmers? Should the cassava harvest be defined by what farmers actually harvest? Or by the quantities that they *could* harvest? What is the relevant measure for productivity? These are conceptual issues that do not have clear answers.

A similar set of concerns arises in relation to measuring yields from animal agriculture. For a few animal agriculture technologies, there are analogs to yield, in the sense that output can be measured consistently. For example, milk output is consistently weighed and measured. Meat production is more difficult to measure and is typically estimated based on the number of animals slaughtered and an assumption of meat offtake per head slaughtered. These coefficients obviously introduce a measurement problem in terms of quantifying output or productivity. For small stock, such as poultry, it is difficult to estimate even the quantity of animals produced or slaughtered; the same may be true for pigs. Other animal outputs, such as draft power, are much harder to quantify. What is the productive output of donkeys in East Africa?

Partly because of the difficulty, cost and limitations of these direct measures of agricultural output, a common practice in household surveys is to rely on farmer reporting of quantities produced. Self-reporting is based on some recall period. Farmers are asked about the quantities of different commodities that they have produced, typically both in physical output units and value terms. Although this is a relatively low-cost way to collect output data, there are numerous measurement concerns. One relates to the ambiguity of units. Farmers typically report production in bags or other units that may not be precise measures. Indeed, the same unit may translate into different quantities of more standard units (for example, kilograms) in different locations within a country. Farmer reports may also not account very carefully for differences in the moisture content or quality of output. Recall measures are also susceptible to a variety of recall biases.³

Recent research has shown that farmer recall is not only subject to a variety of errors, but may also be systematically biased across farm size (Desiere and Jolliffe, 2018; Gourlay et al., 2017). Comparisons of crop cuts with farmer reports suggest that small farmers may systematically over-report yield and production. Gourlay et al. (2017) find in data from Uganda that maize yields are systematically over-reported on small plots, as given by comparison of crop cut data with farmer self-reporting; the same result holds for a subset of plots where yield measures are based on measuring the entire plot harvest. Similarly, Desiere and Jolliffe (2018) find similar results in data from the Ethiopia Socioeconomic Survey on a large number of crops. Neither of these studies systematically deals with farm size; in both

Some of the challenges of implementing careful crop-cutting procedures are discussed in detail in Gourlay et al. (2017).

^{3.} There are also issues with the non-standard measurement units in which production and consumption are often reported (Oseni et al., 2017).

cases, the finding is that farmers over-report yield on small *plots* rather than small farms. To the extent that small farms are characterized by small plots, these two papers support the finding that farmer self-reporting may overstate output and yield on small farms. It is worth noting that Gollin and Udry (2017) find a similar inverse relationship in the LSMS-ISA data between plot size and plot yield; but they also find that farmers report high labour-intensity on small plots – and, perhaps more surprisingly, that farms with more plots, holding total land area constant, display higher consumption expenditure, suggesting that small plots are in fact more productive than larger plots.

2.8 Prices

Productivity comparisons across space and time require some adjustment for price differences, and where farm households produce multiple outputs, it may also be necessary to use a common vector of prices (a "base price") for aggregation purposes. There are numerous challenges that arise in measuring prices, in addition to the conceptual and theoretical difficulties that are well documented in the literature on index number theory. The theoretical literature tells us that relative productivities will, in general, be sensitive to the choice of prices used for these comparisons. Even the *ranking* of productivities may change with a different base price. In other words, under a particular base price, Farm A may appear to have higher productivity than Farm B, but under a different base price, the reverse may be true. There is no "correct" base price, and although there is an extensive literature suggesting different approaches to minimizing the problem (using, for example, chain weights or other price indices), these cannot make the underlying problem disappear.

Beyond the theoretical issues, however, there are also a number of measurement problems. Households are typically asked to state the prices at which they bought or sold different commodities. (They may instead be asked for both the physical quantities and the values; unit values are backed out from these two responses and are often treated as prices.) In practice, however, the answers given to these questions often result in unit value reports that vary wildly within communities, even for what appear to be identical crops. As a result, a common practice among researchers is to abandon these household-level "prices" and to substitute something like a community price. This is often estimated as the median unit value for a commodity that has been reported by the households in a community, although sometimes community prices are taken from separate market surveys. In either case, the end result is to create a potentially consistent bias across households. For instance, those households that are (in fact) farther away from a market or community centre will face higher input costs and lower output prices than those that are more central. Their optimizing choices will reflect this price structure. For instance, they will apply inputs (including labour) at lower levels of intensity than farms that face higher output prices and lower input costs. When these farms are compared, however, with a constant set of prices, the more remote farms will appear to be less efficient and/or productive. To the extent that remote farms tend to differ in size from farms that are in close proximity to markets, this will affect our perceptions of a relationship between farm size and productivity. It is not clear in which direction this bias will operate, however. In some contexts, remote farms will be small relative to those closer to community centres and markets - e.g. where remoteness limits commercial opportunities and leaves households in subsistence, and where "close" farms can take advantage of scale economies. In other contexts, however, especially where land in remote areas is less desirable and less productive, remote farms may actually be larger. In either case, we must be aware of the ways in which remoteness affects measured productivity levels through price mechanisms. Note that these cases, the *true* physical productivity across farms may be identical. The point here is that using a constant set of prices for spatially dispersed households will affect *measured productivity* in ways that can create systematic biases.

2.9 Which productivity measure?

Much of the literature from agricultural economics and agricultural development focuses on crop yields (output per unit of land) as the key measure of productivity. Comparisons of large and small farms often rely on comparisons of the crop yields attained on farms of different sizes. For example, a common approach to assessing the inverse relationship between farm size and productivity is to regress crop yield on farm size (typically a measure of area), along with some vector of controls – typically in a linear or log linear structure. In more complicated settings, where farmers grow multiple crops, the dependent variable may be farm profits per hectare or even gross farm income per hectare. For many reasons listed above, we might worry about measurement and specification problems here that could lead to misleading results. But a different question is whether this is even the most useful or relevant measure of productivity for us to consider.

Outside the agricultural economics literature, economists tend to think about productivity primarily in terms of output per worker, or output per unit of labour (i.e. average labour productivity), or, better still, value added per worker. Average productivity is seen as having some relationship to income, since, in many environments, the marginal product of labour will be closely related to the average product. The average product of labour is a useful indicator of how much value a typical worker produces, with that value presumably being shared between workers and the suppliers of land and capital. For this reason, labour productivity seems like a more useful measure than land productivity.

In general, the same factors that Sen (1962) identified as leading to the inverse relationship – namely, the tendency in an environment of poorly functioning land and labour markets, for smallholder farm families to use family labour at very intensive levels on their limited landholdings – will lead to high crop yield but low output per unit of labour on small farms. This result is, in some sense, just an arithmetic corollary to the inverse relationship between yield and farm size. But where yields vary relatively little across farms of different sizes, labour productivity can vary enormously, due in particular to the substitution of capital for labour. The key insight here is that land per unit of labour varies tremendously across countries – far more than output per unit of land. Mechanization is the key factor driving the differences in land per unit of labour. Where farmers work only with hand tools, there is a biophysical limit to the amount of cropland that a single person can productively cultivate.⁴ But animal traction – and, even more so, mechanical power – can extend this limit.

A third measure of productivity, beloved by economists but somewhat less transparent for non-economists, is total factor productivity (TFP). This is a measure of output per unit of total inputs. The idea here is to see how output varies in relation to changes in multiple inputs. For instance, an increase in the use of capital will, in general, lead to an increase in output per unit of land and a similar increase in output per unit of labour. But economists

^{4.} Where land is abundant, the way to extend the spatial scope of farming is through reliance on livestock – especially ruminants – which can graze a large area under the supervision of a single herder. This allows agricultural households effectively to bypass the limits of scale that they would face in crop farming.

would still tend to visualize this as an increase in output that is driven by an increase in inputs. Comparing output across two farms, or two moments in time on the same farm, a TFP measure would seek to assess how much change there is in the output per unit of total inputs. This measure has a useful interpretation as a pure productivity gain. We expect to see TFP increases from improved technologies – or, similarly, from improvements in efficiency. TFP increases have a parallel interpretation as decreases in the unit cost of production; a TFP increase is essentially a change that allows us to produce the same output with fewer inputs (and therefore at lower cost).

There are many challenges, however, to measuring TFP growth. One is that TFP measurement requires highly accurate and detailed measures of all inputs and all outputs. It is thus a data-demanding measure. In many contexts, the data are not available at a sufficient level of detail to provide accurate TFP estimates. A second problem with TFP measurement is that it requires the economist observer to know with confidence the way in which different inputs are combined to generate output. Because TFP is, in a sense, based on a comparison of an output index to an input index, it is quite sensitive to the construction of the two indices. Most economic analyses construct measures of TFP (or change in TFP) by assuming knowledge of the specific production function. However, production function estimation is itself a challenging exercise, and TFP calculations may be quite sensitive to the assumed specification and functional form. Comparing TFP across farms of different sizes - whether within countries or across countries - is also subject to the concern that the production function itself is likely to vary across farm size categories. When we compare the TFP of a large mechanized farm in the United States or France with the TFP of a small semi-subsistence farm in Mali or Mozambique, it will be difficult to disentangle the technological differences from the massive disparities in inputs. Figuring out which farms are more productive (in TFP measures) may be quite challenging in the face of such enormous variation.

3 Farm size and productivity: data and patterns

In this section, we leave behind the conceptual issues and the practicalities of measurement to discuss some of the recent evidence on farm size and productivity. There is a rich recent literature on this topic, both from the macro and micro perspectives.

3.1 Cross-country

We begin by looking at the cross-country differences in crop agriculture productivity and overall agricultural productivity. This is a topic explored recently by Adamopoulos and Restuccia (2014) and Gollin et al. (2014a, 2014b), among others. Even a cursory analysis suggests that the big differences in crop agriculture across countries come from differences in farm size.

To see this, consider **table 1**. This shows the available hectares of arable cropland divided by the economically active population in agriculture for countries at different levels of income per capita. The top 10 per cent of countries in the income distribution have approximately 30 times more cropland per worker than the poorest 10 per cent of countries. This does not reflect a difference in natural endowments; instead, it reflects the fact that far fewer people work in agriculture in rich countries.

Next, consider the differences across countries in output per unit of land for major grain crops. **Table 2** shows that for rich countries, yields of the major grain crops are 2.5 to 4.7 times higher in the world's richest countries compared to the poorest.⁵ The resulting differences are large, to be sure, but these differences pale in comparison to the differences in land per worker. A similar finding comes from analysis of cross-country micro evidence in Adamopoulos and Restuccia (2018).

	Hectares per worker
Top 10 per cent of global income distribution	44.6
Top quarter of global income distribution	23.9
Bottom quarter of global income distribution	1.3
Bottom 10 per cent of global income distribution	1.4
Ratio of top to bottom 10 per cent	31.2
Ratio of top to bottom quarter	18.0

Table 1 Land per agricultural worker by country income group

Notes: From FAOSTAT. Land is measured as hectares of arable land.

5. The comparison here is based on the top decile of countries in the world income distribution and on the bottom decile.

Table 2 Physical productivity of staple grains by cou	untry income group
---	--------------------

	Average yield (tons/ha)		
	Maize	Rice	Wheat
Top 10 per cent of global income distribution	9.2	8.1	4.9
Top quarter of global income distribution	8.2	6.8	4.8
Bottom quarter of global income distribution	2.4	3.2	2.1
Bottom 10 per cent of global income distribution	2.0	2.9	2.0
Ratio of top to bottom 10 per cent	4.7	2.8	2.5
Ratio of top to bottom quarter	3.4	2.1	2.2

Note: Data from FAOSTAT.

Taken together, these data imply striking differences across countries in output per unit of labour. Whereas crop yields are moderately higher in rich countries than in poor ones, the physical units of crop output per unit of labour are massively higher. Consider **table 3** and **table 4**, which show the differences in output per hour worked – where output is measured in physical units of production (rather than value) and labour is measured carefully in hours (rather than in person-days). We can do this for a number of settings in which the data can be consistently compiled. The remarkable finding is that output per hour of labour effort varies by a factor of more than one thousand (for maize) and around five hundred (for rice). Output per hour is consistently higher in settings where farm sizes are large, presumably reflecting both the differences in production technology and the capital intensity of production.

Country	Year	Yield (kg/ha)	Hours	Output (kg/hour)	Source
Kenya	1997	908	963.9	0.9	Suri, 2011
Kenya	2004	1 415	1 164.3	1.2	Suri, 2011
Malawi (1)	1989-90	745	306.0	2.4	Smale et al., 1995
Malawi (2)	1989-90	1 264	348.0	3.6	Smale et al., 1995
Malawi (3)	1989-90	2 774	372.0	7.5	Smale et al., 1995
Malawi	1995-2000	1 342	504.0	2.7	Edriss et al., 2004
South Africa	2003-04	1 060	249.0	4.3	Gouse et al., 2006
United States	2001	8 473	6.3	1 318.9	Foreman, 2001
United States (Iowa)	2011	10 395	7.0	1 470.6	Plastina, 2017

 Table 3 Maize output per hour worked

Notes: (1) local varieties unfertilized; (2) local varieties fertilized; (3) hybrids fertilized.

Table 4 Rice output per hour worked

Country	Year	Yield (kg/ha)	Hours	Output (kg/hour)	Source
Java†	1875-78	1 600	1 350	1.19	Barker et al., 1985
Java‡	1875-80			0.66	Van der Eng, 2004
Java†	1920-30	1 800	1 224	1.47	Barker et al., 1985
Java†	1968-71	2 700	948	2.85	Barker et al., 1985
Java†	1977-80	3 700	864	4.28	Barker et al., 1985
Java‡	1987-92			3.15	Van der Eng, 2004
Burma†	1930s	1 548	282.6	5.48	Barker et al., 1985
Thailand (northeast)†	1960s	1 321	339	3.90	Barker et al., 1985
Sri Lanka (Kurunegala)†	1972-73	2 917	972.6	3.00	Barker et al., 1985
Philippines (central Luzon)†	1974-75	2 449	489.6	5.00	Barker et al., 1985
Taiwan (central)†	1926-27	2 500	576	4.34	Barker et al., 1985
Taiwan (central)†	1936-37	3 100	756	4.10	Barker et al., 1985
Taiwan (central)†	1961	4 100	828	4.95	Barker et al., 1985
Taiwan (central)†	1972	5 200	504	10.32	Barker et al., 1985
Indonesia (E. Kalimantan)*	1980-85	2 020	1 110	1.82	Padoch, 1985
Nigeria (upland)	2002	1 900	1 284	1.48	Erenstein et al., 2003
Nigeria (lowland)	2002	1 700	936	1.82	Erenstein et al., 2003
Nigeria (semi-irrigated)	2002	3 700	1 350	2.74	Erenstein et al., 2003
China (Zhejiang)	1998	6 820	1 074	6.35	Huang et al., 2000
Bangladesh	2000	5 630	726	7.75	Husain et al., 2001
California (Sacramento Valley)	2015	9 527	11.2	850.6	Espino et al., 2016
United States††	2000	7 734	11.1	696.8	Livezey & Foreman, 2004

Notes:

+ Assumes six hours per day of labour.

‡ Assumes eight hours per day of labour.

- * Assumes six hours of labour per day; uses an approximate midpoint for the estimated labour use of 178-192.5 person-days; p. 282.
- ++ Data for mid-cost category and actual (rather than expected) yield.

Consider the simple decomposition of average labour productivity into two components: crop yield (output per unit land) and labour intensity (land per worker):

$$\frac{output}{worker} = \frac{output}{land} = \frac{land}{worker}$$

The data suggest strongly that the differences in land per worker dwarf the differences in labour intensity. Yields differ by a factor of six, at the maximum. But hours worked per unit of land (i.e. the inverse of land per worker) vary by a factor of several hundred. The central lesson is that an understanding of productivity differences across countries needs to address the differences in land per worker – which reflects a combination of farm size, capital-labour substitution, land market institutions and other factors. Data on average farm size across countries give a clear picture: the overwhelming pattern in the cross-country data is that rich countries have both higher productivity (by almost any measure) and larger farms. But is this relationship causal? The same relationship could simply reflect differences in (relative) land abundance. To the extent that rich countries also have access to better technologies and/or more capital, the relationship might also reflect simply a complementarity between abundant land and these improved technologies.

The cross-country data are thus highly suggestive of a relationship between farm size and productivity per unit of labour. This relationship may not be direct, and it may not be fully causal. But it is not difficult to understand that where farmers command larger amounts of land – and have access to both the capital and the technology to use it productively – they are able to produce more output per worker. The question becomes simply whether the land rents are sufficient to make capital investments (such as mechanization) profitable.

3.2 Within country

In comparisons of farm size within countries, long-standing literature has supported the notion that there is an inverse relationship between farm size and productivity in developing countries. This literature has been extensively surveyed, including in a useful critical review by Eastwood et al. (2010). Following Sen (1962) and the near-contemporaneous work of Mazumdar (1965), a large literature documented an inverse relationship across numerous within-country studies in Asia and Latin America. Numerous theoretical explanations for the relationship have been advanced and discussed, for example, Barrett (1996), Barrett et al. (2010), and Feder (1985).

The general approach in much of the literature has been to look for evidence of the inverse relationship in data collected across farms, often within relatively narrow geographical areas, but occasionally in nationally representative data. The usual empirical approach is to regress yield on farm size, including a number of controls. A statistically significant negative coefficient on farm size is then interpreted as evidence for the inverse relationship. A problem here is that farm size itself may be endogenous (e.g. to land quality) so that farm size may be small precisely where the land is most productive. If so, the yields may be high on small farms because of land quality differences – not because of farm size. Concerns over the econometric identification of this relationship have been expressed since Carter (1984). A further set of concerns have been raised for many years over measurement error,

heterogeneity and other issues limiting confidence in the empirical findings. In a literature dating back more than twenty years, researchers have expressed concerns that the apparent inverse relationship within country is an artifact of measurement errors of various kinds; see, for example, Benjamin (1995), Mundlak (2000), or Assunção and Ghatak (2003). Newer literature, much of it focused on African farms, has also challenged the inverse relationship, citing measurement problems in farmer-reported production and yield relating to farmer reports of land area, yield and other variables, for example, Gourlay et al. (2017), and Desiere and Jolliffe (2018).⁶

Even where the relationship shows up in a statistically significant fashion, it may be too small to be economically very meaningful. Variation in observables does not typically account for a very large fraction of yield differences across plots or farmers. Gollin and Udry (2017) show for three African countries (Ghana, Tanzania and Uganda) that the dispersion of measured plot yield around the mean is wide even after controlling for a very large set of plot characteristics and household observables. Indeed, they find large variation even across plots of the same crop, farmed by the same individual, in the same season. This suggests that yields are highly sensitive (as, indeed, any farmer knows) to weather shocks, pest shocks and idiosyncratic variations in the production environment; in addition, measurement error introduces another source of dispersion in yield.

A major concern is with the failure of the data to capture in any adequate sense the *change* in productivity that one might expect to observe if existing small farms were consolidated into larger farms. Such changes would presumably be accompanied by corresponding changes in the technology and capital used in production. But we do not generally observe what happens to the productivity of agriculture under conditions of changing farm size. Moreover, many of the existing within-country studies tend to sample existing farms. This approach ends up comparing tiny farms with those that are only slightly less tiny. Much of the literature focuses on these kinds of comparisons, often between farms that are between 0 and 5 hectares in size. It may be the case (and probably is) that the smaller farms have higher crop yields. But the real question that we care about is whether there is a consequential loss in productivity as farm size increases in a qualitative sense – from 1 hectare to 10 hectares or even 100 hectares. The within-country data say little about these differences in most developing countries.

3.3 Discussion of patterns

The patterns that emerge are relatively clear. There seems to be – at low levels of farm size – a relatively clear inverse relationship between farm size and crop yield, although this does not typically hold when we switch to measures of labour productivity instead of land productivity (Fan and Chan-Kang, 2005). These patterns hold at quite low levels of farm size, but they subsequently disappear with larger farm sizes, as evidenced by the increasing upward trend in farm size in the United States and European Union. They also do not hold for studies that use crop cuts to measure yield. Foster and Rosenzweig (2011) describe a U-shaped relationship between farm size and productivity that applies, when a much larger range of farm size is included in the analysis. On this basis, Foster and Rosenzweig (2011) estimate that the scale of farming in India is inefficiently small, with far too many small

^{6.} Bevis and Barrett (2016) point to another potential source of measurement error in productivity, related to "edge effects." They argue that farmers may be more likely to farm intensively (leading to higher yields) on those plots with a high ratio of edge to area. Since farmers tend to walk around the perimeter of their fields, they are more likely to notice problems and to respond to them if the problems are easily visible from the edge of the plot.

farms operating, given the potential scale economies through mechanization. Their work points out the value of looking at farm size in contexts where the support of the farm size distribution is quite wide and where commercially oriented farms can be seen operating at different scales, using different technologies.

One striking finding is that the variation in yield due to farm size is relatively small. Yields differ by a factor of around two between the lowest-yield and highest-yield farm sizes in India. This is not a trivial difference, but the corresponding differences in profits are almost certainly smaller. This means that farm size is not a particularly major determinant of yields. Within-country variation in yields is heavily due to location-specific factors (such as those captured with community fixed effects), whereas observable land and farm characteristics have relatively low explanatory power. This suggests that a focus on farm size as a source of yield gains and losses may be misplaced. What is abundantly clear, however, is that there are very large differences in *labour productivity* in relation to farm size. The overwhelming finding here is that large farms generate higher average labour productivity than small farms, perhaps unsurprising given the arithmetic relationships. Thus, any focus on farm size should pay attention to the labour productivity differences across the size distribution, or perhaps the profitability of farms of different sizes, rather than to yields.

4 Policy implications

Government policies around the globe have long targeted farm size for a variety of issues relating to efficiency and equity. Eastwood et al. (2010) survey the range of policies, which range from support for consolidation of farms (e.g. in places where land fragmentation is perceived as a problem or a barrier to the take-up of new technologies) to programmes of land reform and redistribution that are intended to limit the maximum farm size. We consider these briefly here.

4.1 Distortions to land markets

At present, one of the most significant areas of land policy relates to titling and tenure security. This has been a significant area of focus for international institutions in recent years. An extensive literature addresses the conjecture that formal land titling may be a necessary condition for increasing investments in land and the efficient allocation of land. On the first point, there is a sense that titling encourages farmers to feel secure in their ownership rights and thereby incentivizes them to make long-term investments in productivity; see, for example, Besley and Ghatak (2009), Galiani and Schargrodsky (2010), Ali et al. (2011), Deininger and Feder (2001), Deininger and Jin (2006), and Jacoby et al. (2002). Evidence of a relationship between tenure security and productivity also emerges from analysis of informal institutions, for example, in Goldstein and Udry (2008). A general finding of this literature is that tenure security does have a positive impact on long-run investments in land quality (e.g. in the use of trees and in measures that promote long-term soil fertility), but not much impact on short-run productivity. There is little evidence that formal land titling is essential for tenure security, however. Many farmers with informal tenure appear to feel highly secure, and in some cases titling may actually create threats to tenure security.

Restrictions on land sales and rentals, and on the maximum size of farm holdings, have the potential to be far more significant. A number of recent papers have examined the aggregate cost of misallocations created through restrictions of this kind, for instance, Adamopoulos et al. (2017), Adamopoulos and Restuccia (2015), and Restuccia and Santaeulàlia-Llopis (2017). A particular concern is that restrictions on the maximum size of farms may have the effect of taking land away from the management of particularly efficient farmers and de facto reallocating it to less efficient farmers. Quantitatively, the analyses mentioned in this paragraph find large impacts of the efficiency losses that result, with agricultural gross values reduced by as much as two thirds or three quarters in some contexts. Papers in this literature acknowledge that there may be equity goals of policies that restrict farm size or that otherwise limit land transactions. But it is clear that there can be real efficiency losses from such policies. It is important to note that in many cases, the inverse relationship has

been invoked as a potential justification for placing limits on maximum farm size. But if this inverse relationship is questionable, then this particular claim – of an efficiency bonus accompanying the equity benefits of land reform – may be flawed.

It is worth noting that Gollin and Udry (2017) argue for caution in applying the methods used in some of the analyses, and they also question some of the more extreme results. But there is no question that land market failures represent a potentially important source of inefficiency in agriculture, and the costs of this inefficiency may be large; see, for example, Foster and Rosenzweig (2011, 2017).

5 Conclusions

To summarize, small farms remain a ubiquitous feature of the agricultural economy, even in rich countries with active land markets. Small farms will not disappear from the agricultural landscape any time soon. Particularly where there are market niches that make sense for small farms to exploit (e.g. specialty markets) or opportunities to produce high-value outputs on small spatial footprints (e.g. horticultural crops), small farms will persist. They will also persist in locations where off-farm employment opportunities are good and where farming can become a part-time source of employment, or as an additional source of livelihoods for semi-retired people or those who enjoy rural lifestyles. In developing countries, the sheer momentum of rural population growth will drive shrinkage of average farm size, given the limited supplies of agricultural land. Many of the world's poor are small farmers, and for this reason, too, smallholder agriculture will necessarily remain at the centre of development strategies and programmes for many decades to come.

The pertinent question for policy is not whether development strategies need to recognize the existence and persistence of small farms; it is, instead, whether strategies based on smallholder agriculture offer a particularly valuable way to generate agricultural development. There are surely equity reasons to focus on smallholders – for poverty reduction, for food security, for employment, and for nutrition. Given the likely long-term trajectories, in which hundreds of millions of poor (and marginally non-poor) people are likely to remain in smallholder agriculture for many decades, these are sufficient reasons to take smallholder agriculture seriously. There are also reasons to focus on smallholder agriculture because of the vulnerabilities of people supported by these farms to climate change and other environmental stresses – and also because of the importance of smallholder activities for the sustainable management of natural resources and the environment. The world's future will be affected deeply by the ways in which smallholders manage land and soil, trees and water, and genetic diversity and wildlife, to name a few of the resource issues that arise.

The more challenging question, however, is whether smallholder agriculture offers long-term solutions to poverty, or whether on the contrary it may be a source of persistent poverty. A related question is whether national and international agricultural futures should be encouraged or incentivized to focus on smallholder agriculture and to resist or limit the emergence of large-scale agriculture. These issues relate to perceptions of the productive potential of smallholder farming. To the extent that the inverse relationship holds – i.e. that small farms are more efficient or more productive than large farms – this relationship could be seen as supporting the idea that future agriculture should be channelled into smaller farms. This paper argues that an accumulating body of evidence challenges the quantitative importance and policy relevance of the inverse relationship – even if there remains some support for the inverse relationship in a qualitative sense. By this, I mean that there may be

evidence that yield is slightly negatively related to farm size over some range. But yield is not necessarily the right measure to use in thinking about farm income or productivity. The evidence is very strong – and has never really been contested – that output per unit of labour rises quite consistently with farm size. This is surely the point that is relevant for discussions of farm size, both in a positive sense and in a normative sense.

In the long run, the incomes of the poor depend on the returns to the factors of production that they control. These are essentially labour, land and capital. Labour has two components: raw labour and skill. Land has (perhaps) three components: area, quality and location. Most smallholders have relatively low skills and little capital. This means that their incomes will normally be determined by the amount of land that they farm and the quality and location of their land. There is not much potential for increasing the income of farmers, in an absolute sense, by increasing the output of one or two hectares of relatively unimproved land. There is some scope to improve the quality of land. And some farmers will be lucky as to location. For a relative handful of the world's smallholders who live in prime locations, there may be huge location rents to be earned - either from selling their land for housing or other nonagricultural purposes, or from taking advantage of a market niche that is related to location. For instance, being well connected to urban markets may allow farmers to switch from staple grain production to high-value animal, dairy or horticultural production, all of which might allow them to earn good livings from small landholdings. Some smallholders will similarly win the agroecological lotteries that allow them to produce commodities with very high returns and limited geographic domains - wine, or truffles, or avocados, or poppy. But for those farmers unlucky enough to have little income from location rents or quality rents, a smallholding will not - and arithmetically cannot - earn a middle-class living. Two hectares of maize and cassava cannot, regardless of yields, produce enough income to afford a farmer the same living standard that will accrue to an urban worker. The inevitable (positive) consequence of this is that people will leave smallholder agriculture as opportunities emerge in other sectors for more productive work. In other sectors, their labour can be matched to reproducible capital, which can grow over time, rather than to land which is fixed. This is the long-run experience of economic growth through capital deepening.

The movement out of smallholder agriculture may take decades, and as noted above, it does not mean that the sector should be ignored or smothered. As Keynes notably said, in the long run, we are all dead, but this is not a reason to smother those who are living. Smallholder agriculture can - to some extent - be made more productive and more efficient. But it may also be sensible to think about policies that reduce the frictions to mobility out of smallholder livelihoods. This may involve measures that support the working of formal or informal land markets, reduction in barriers to land consolidation, support for internal migration, attention to the rural non-farm sector, and a myriad of other activities. Many types of public investments in rural areas may also be valuable: rural roads and infrastructure, irrigation and electrification, and public administration in various forms. As pointed out, traditional agriculture is generally efficient, given the constraints and resources and technologies that farmers face. Improving the well-being of smallholders will require changing their constraints and technologies, since land and capital resources are difficult to increase. Schultz (1964) would also have emphasized the importance of investing in people, and here, too, the lessons remain valid. Investing in smallholders will in many cases imply preparing young people to leave agriculture and to compete effectively for jobs in other sectors - and possibly in other locations. It is not that young rural people will all become computer programmers; some of the preparation that they will need is not "hard skill" so much as it is information and "soft skill." Interesting work points to the importance of aspirations, beliefs in self-efficacy and other behavioural attributes.

Supporting movements out of smallholder agriculture does not imply undermining or diminishing those who remain. Smallholder farmers should be recognized for the value that they contribute to society and for the work that they do. It cannot help to refer to smallholders as backwards or unproductive – a language that persists disturbingly in many policymaking circles. The overwhelming evidence is that smallholders do a reasonable job of optimizing their choices under extraordinarily difficult conditions. But the reality is that smallholder livelihoods, in most locations and for most farmers, will be very limited. Smallholder agriculture can produce more commodities in developing countries, but it is not clear that it can produce middle-class incomes, except where the smallholdings win a geographic lottery that allows farmers to take advantage of rents to land quality or location. Alternatively, smallholder farming can produce middle-class incomes in contexts where large capital investments are available to farmers. These change the game by enabling farmers to produce very intensively on small spatial footprints. But these exceptions will sadly not apply to most smallholder farmers in sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. For them, smallholder agriculture will remain a fact of life, rather than a development strategy or a growth strategy.

References

Adamopoulos, T., and Restuccia, D. 2014. The Size Distribution of Farms and International Productivity Differences. *The American Economic Review*, 104: 1667-1697.

Adamopoulos, T., and Restuccia, D. 2015. *Land Reform and Productivity: A Quantitative Analysis with Micro Data*. Working paper tecipa-525. University of Toronto, Department of Economics.

Adamopoulos, T., and Restuccia, D. 2018. Geography and Agricultural Productivity: Cross-country Evidence from Micro Plot-level Data. s.l.: s.n.

Adamopoulos, T., Brandt, L., Leight, J., and Restuccia, D. 2017. *Misallocation, Selection and Productivity: A Quantitative Analysis with Panel Data from China*. s.l.: s.n.

Akogun, O., et al. 2017. Productivity and Health: Alternative Productivity Estimates Using Physical Activity. s.l.: World Bank.

Ali, D.A., Dercon, S., and Gautam, M. 2011. Property Rights in a Very Poor Country: Tenure Insecurity and Investment in Ethiopia. *Agricultural Economics*, 42: 75-86.

Arthi, V., Beegle, K., De Weerdt, J., and Palacios-López, A. 2018. Not Your Average Job: Measuring Farm Labor in Tanzania. *Journal of Development Economics*, 130: 160-172.

Ashour, M., et al. 2016. Do Beliefs About Agricultural Inputs Counterfeiting Correspond with Actual Rates of Counterfeiting? Evidence from Uganda. s.l.: International Food Policy Research Institute.

Assunção, J.J., and Ghatak, M. 2003. Can Unobserved Heterogeneity in Farmer Ability Explain the Inverse Relationship Between Farm Size and Productivity. *Economics Letters*, 80: 189-194.

Barker, R., Herdt, R.W., and Rose, B. 1985. The Rice Economy of Asia. s.l.: International Rice Research Institute.

Barrett, C.B. 1996. On Price Risk and the Inverse Farm Size-Productivity Relationship. *Journal of Development Economics*, 51 (December): 193-215.

Barrett, C.B., Bellemare, M.F., and Hou, J.Y. 2010. Reconsidering Conventional Explanations of the Inverse Productivity-Size Relationship. *World Development*, 38 (January): 88-97.

Benjamin, D. 1995. Can Unobserved Land Quality Explain the Inverse Productivity Relationship? *Journal of Development Economics*, 46: 51-84.

Besley, T., and Ghatak, M. 2009. Property Rights and EconomicDevelopment. s.l.: s.n.

Bevis, L.E.M., and Barrett, C.B. 2016. Close to the Edge: Do Behavioral Explanations Account for the Inverse Productivity Relationship? Working paper. s.l.: Cornell University.

Bold, T., Kaizzi, K.C., Svensson, J., and Yanagizawa-Drott, D. 2017. Lemon Technologies and Adoption: Measurement, Theory and Evidence from Agricultural Markets in Uganda. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, p. qjx009.

Carletto, C., Gourlay, S., Murray, S., and Zezza, A. 2016. *Cheaper, Faster, and More Than Good Enough: Is GPS the New Gold Standard in Land Area Measurement?*

Carletto, C., Gourlay, S., and Winters, P. 2015. From Guesstimates to GPStimates: Land Area Measurement and Implications for Agricultural Analysis. *Journal of African Economies*, 24: 593-628.

Carter, M.R. 1984. Identification of the Inverse Relationship Between Farm Size and Productivity: An Empirical Analysis of Peasant Agricultural Production. *Oxford Economic Papers*, 36: 131-145.

Collier, P., and Dercon, S. 2014. African Agriculture in 50 Years: Smallholders in a Rapidly Changing World? *World Development*, 63: 92-101.

Deininger, K., and Feder, G. 2001. Land Institutions and Land Markets. *Handbook of Agricultural Economics*, 1: 287-331.

Deininger, K., and Jin, S. 2006. Tenure Security and Land-related Investment: Evidence from Ethiopia. *European Economic Review*, 50: 1245-1277.

Desiere, S., and Jolliffe, D. 2018. Land Productivity and Plot Size: Is Measurement Error Driving the Inverse Relationship? *Journal of Development Economics*, 130: 84-98.

Diao, X., Hazell, P., and Thurlow, J. 2010. The Role of Agriculture in African Development. *World Development*, 38 (October): 1375-1383.

Doss, C.R. 2018. Women and Agricultural Productivity: Reframing the Issues. *Development Policy Review*, 36: 35-50.

Eastwood, R., Lipton, M., and Newell, A. 2010. Farm Size. Handbook of Agricultural Economics, 4: 3323-3397.

Edriss, A., Tchale, H., and Wobst, P. 2004. *The Impact of Labour Market Liberalization on Maize Productivity and Rural Poverty in Malawi*. Project paper. Available at www.pasad.uni-bonn.de or www.researchgate.net/publication/237226326_The_Impact_of_Labour_Market_Liberalization_on_Maize_Productivity_and_Rural_Poverty_in_Malawi1.

Erenstein, O., et al. 2003. *Rice Production Systems in Nigeria: A Survey*. Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire: West Africa Rice Development Association.

Espino, L.A., et al. 2016. University of California Cooperative Extension Sample Costs to Produce Rice 2015. Amended June 2016. Sacramento Valley, Rice Only Rotation, Medium Grain. s.l.: s.n.

Fan, S., and Chan-Kang, C. 2005. Is Small Beautiful? Farm Size, Productivity, and Poverty in Asian Agriculture. *Agricultural Economics*, 32: 135-146.

Feder, G. 1985. The Relation Between Farm Size and Farm Productivity: The Role of Family Labor, Supervision and Credit Constraints. *Journal of Development Economics*, 18: 297-313.

Foreman, L. 2001. Characteristics and Production Costs of US Corn Farms. s.l.: United States Department of Agriculture.

Foster, A.D., and Rosenzweig, M.R. 2011. Are Indian Farms Too Small? Mechanization, Agency Costs, and Farm Efficiency. Unpublished manuscript. Brown University and Yale University.

Foster, A.D., and Rosenzweig, M.R. 2017. Are There Too Many Farms in the World? Labor-Market Transaction Costs, Machine Capacities and Optimal Farm Size. s.l.: s.n.

Gaddis, I., Oseni, G., Palacios-Lopez, A., and Pieters, J. 2017. *Measuring Farm Labor: Survey Experimental Evidence from Ghana*. Available at http://conference.iza.org/conference_files/GLMLICNetwork_2017/gaddis_i8319.pdf.

Galiani, S., and Schargrodsky, E. 2010. Property Rights for the Poor: Effects of Land Titling. *Journal of Public Economics*, 94: 700-729.

Gallego, F.J. 2015. Area Sampling Frames for Agricultural and Environmental Statistics. EUR 27595 EN. doi:10.2788/88253.

Goldstein, M., and Udry, C. 2008. The Profits of Power: Land Rights and Agricultural Investment in Ghana. *Journal of Political Economy*, 116 (December): 981-1022.

Gollin, D., Lagakos, D., and Waugh, M.E. 2014a. Agricultural Productivity Differences Across Countries. *The American Economic Review*, 104: 165-170.

Gollin, D., Lagakos, D., and Waugh, M.E. 2014b. The Agricultural Productivity Gap. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 129.

Gollin, D., and Udry, C. 2017. *Heterogeneity, Measurement Error, and Misallocation: Evidence from African Agriculture*. Available at https://egcenter.economics.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Conference%20 2017%20Agri-Devo%20speakers/Gollin_Udry_Heterogeneity%2C%20Measurement%20Error%2C%20 and%20Misallocation.pdf

Gourlay, S., Kilic, T., and Lobell, D. 2017. *Could the Debate Be Over? Errors in Farmer-reported Production and Their Implications for the Inverse Scale-Productivity Relationship in Uganda*. Policy Research Working Paper 8192. World Bank Group. Available at http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/242721505231101959/pdf/WPS8192.pdf

Gouse, M., Piesse, J., and Thirtle, C. 2006. Output and Labour Effects of GM Maize and Minimum Tillage in a Communal Area of KwaZulu Natal. *Journal of Development Perspectives*, 2: 192-207.

Hazell, P., Poulton, C., Wiggins, S., and Dorward, A. 2010. The Future of Small Farms: Trajectories and Policy Priorities. *World Development*, 38: 1349-1361.

Hoppe, R.A. 2014. *Structure and Finances of U.S. Farms: Family Farm Report, 2014 Edition.* s.l.: United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.

Huang, J., et al. 2000. Farm Pesticide, Rice Production, and Human Health. CCAP's Project Report, 11.

Husain, A.M.M., Hossain, M., and Janaiah, A. 2001. *Hybrid Rice Adoption in Bangladesh: A Socioeconomic Assessment of Farmers' Experiences.* s.l.: Research and Evaluation Division, BRAC.

Jacoby, H., Li, G., and Rozelle, S. 2002. Hazards of Expropriation: Tenure Insecurity and Investment in Rural China. *American Economic Review*, 92: 1420-1447.

Kilic, T., Zezza, A., Carletto, C., and Savastano, S. 2017. Missing (ness) in Action: Selectivity Bias in GPSbased Land Area Measurements. *World Development*, 92: 143-157.

Kosmowski, F., et al. 2018. Varietal Identification in Household Surveys: Results from Three Householdbased Methods Against the Benchmark of DNA Fingerprinting in Southern Ethiopia. *Experimental Agriculture*, pp. 1-15.

Livezey, J., and Foreman, L. 2004. *Characteristics and Production Costs of U.S. Rice Farms*. USDA-ERS Research Paper No. SB-974-7. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=747504 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.747504.

Lowder, S.K., Skoet, J., and Raney, T. 2016. The Number, Size, and Distribution of Farms, Smallholder Farms, and Family Farms Worldwide. *World Development*, 87: 16-29.

MacDonald, J.M., Korb, P., and Hoppe, R.A. 2013. *Farm Size and the Organization of U.S. Crop Farming*. ERR-152. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.

Mazumdar, D. 1965. Size of Farm and Productivity: A Problem of Indian Peasant Agriculture. *Economica*, 32: 161-173.

Michelson, H. 2017. Variable Soils, Variable Fertilizer Quality, and Variable Prospects. *Tropical Conservation Science*, 10: 1940082917720661.

Mundlak, Y. 2000. Agriculture and Economic Growth: Theory and Measurement. Cambridge, MA, Harvard University Press.

Oseni, G., Durazo, J., and McGee, K. 2017. The Use of Non-standard Measurement Units for the Collection of Food Quantity: A Guidebook for Improving the Measurement of Food Consumption and Agricultural Production in Living Standards Surveys. *LSMS Guidebook*. Washington, D.C., World Bank. Volume 7, p. 2017. Retrieved in August.

Padoch, C. 1985. Labor Efficiency and Intensity of Land Use in Rice Production: An Example from Kalimantan. *Human Ecology*, 13: 271-289.

Palacios-Lopez, A., Christiaensen, L., and Kilic, T. 2017. How Much of the Labor in African Agriculture Is Provided by Women? *Food Policy*, 67: 52-63.

Plastina, A. 2017. Estimated Costs of Crop Production in Iowa - 2017. Ag Decision Maker. File A1-20. s.l.: s.n.

Restuccia, D., and Santaeulàlia-Llopis, R. 2017. *Land Misallocation and Productivity*. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2607103 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2607103. s.l.: s.n.

Schultz, T.W. 1964. Transforming Traditional Agriculture. New Haven, London, Yale University Press.

Sen, A.K. 1962. An Aspect of Indian Agriculture. Economic Weekly, 14: 243-246.

Seymour, G., Malapit, H.J., and Quisumbing, A. 2017. *Measuring Time Use in Development Settings*. Policy Research Working Paper 8147. World Bank Group.

Smale, M., Heisey, P.W., and Leathers, H.D. 1995. Maize of the Ancestors and Modern Varieties: The Microeconomics of High-yielding Variety Adoption in Malawi. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 43: 351-368.

Suri, T. 2011. Selection and Comparative Advantage in Technology Adoption. Econometrica, 79(1): 159-209.

Van der Eng, P. 2004. Productivity and Comparative Advantage in Rice Agriculture in South-East Asia Since 1870. *Asian Economic Journal*, 18: 345-370.

Wiggins, S., Kirsten, J., and Llambí, L. 2010. The Future of Small Farms. World Development, 38: 1341-1348.

The IFAD Research Series

01.	Agricultural and rural development reconsidered A guide to issues and debates
	By Steve Wiggins
02.	Migration and transformative pathways
	A rural perspective
~~	By David Suttie, Rosemary Vargas-Lundius
03.	Fostering inclusive outcomes in sub-Saharan African agriculture
	Improving agricultural productivity and expanding agribusiness opportunities
0.4	By David Suttie, Rui Benfica
04.	The effects of smallholder agricultural involvement on household food consumption and
	dietary diversity Evidence from Malawi
	By Rui Benfica, Talip Kilic
05.	Rural-urban linkages and food systems in sub-Saharan Africa
05.	The rural dimension
	By Karim Hussein, David Suttie
06.	Why food and nutrition security matters for inclusive structural and rural transformation
00.	By Steven Were Omamo
07.	Measuring IFAD's impact
	Background paper to the IFAD9 Impact Assessment Initiative
	By Alessandra Garbero
08.	Fostering inclusive rural transformation in fragile states and situations
	By Karim Hussein
09.	Social protection and inclusive rural transformation
	By Carolina Trivelli, Silvana Vargas, Jhonatan Clausen
10.	Inclusive Finance and Inclusive Rural Transformation
	By Calum G. Turvey
11.	Food safety, trade, standards and the integration of smallholders into value chains
	A review of the literature
	By John Humphrey
12.	An evidence-based assessment of IFAD's end of project reporting
	By Bia Carneiro, Alessandra Garbero
13.	Graduation models for rural financial inclusion
	By Khalid El Harizi, Xinjia Yan
14.	Disbursement performance of the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)
	An in-depth analysis of drivers and trends
15	By Tim Balint, Daniel Higgins, Paola Mallia, Silvana Scalzo, Paul Winters
15.	Remittances, growth and poverty reduction in Asia
	A critical review of the literature and new evidence from cross-country panel data
16.	By Katsushi S. Imai, Bilal Malaeb, Fabrizio Bresciani Getting the most out of impact evaluation for learning, reporting and influence
10.	Insights from piloting a Participatory Impact Assessment and Learning Approach (PIALA) with IFAD
	By Edward Heinemann, Adinda Van Hemelrijck, Irene Guijt
17.	Population age structure and sex composition in sub-Saharan Africa
17.	A rural-urban perspective
	By Ashira Menashe-Oren, Guy Stecklov
	,

18.	Do agricultural support and cash transfer programmes improve nutritional status?
	By Seth R. Gitter, James Manley, Jill Bernstein, Paul Winters
19.	Measuring women's empowerment in agriculture
	A streamlined approach
	By Alessandra Garbero, Emilie Perge
20.	Transformation and diversification of the rural economy in Asia
	By Roehlano M. Briones
21.	Does relative deprivation induce migration?
	Evidence from sub-Saharan Africa
	By Kashi Kafle, Rui Benfica, Paul Winters
22.	Poverty reduction during the rural-urban transformation
	Rural development is still more important than urbanization
	By Katsushi S. Imai, Raghav Gaiha, Alessandra Garbero
23.	The effect of the sectoral composition of economic growth on rural and urban poverty
~ .	By Rui Benfica, Heath Henderson
24.	Influence of nutrition-sensitive interventions on dietary profiles of smallholder farming
	households in East and Southern Africa
05	By Marian Amaka Odenigbo, Patience Elabor-Idemudia, Nigatu Regassa Geda
25.	Structural transformation and poverty in Malawi
	Decomposing the effects of occupational and spatial mobility
00	By Rui Benfica, Margherita Squarcina, Alejandro de la Fuente
26.	Exploration of a methodology for assessing the impact of policy engagement
	What impact and how to assess it?
07	By Anna McCord, Ed Heinemann, Lauren Phillips
27.	Asia's rural-urban disparity in the context of growing inequality By Katsushi S. Imai, Bilal Malaeb
28	Understanding the dynamics of adoption decisions and their poverty impacts
20.	The case of improved maize seeds in Uganda
	By Alessandra Garbero, Pierre Marion
29.	Empowering through collective action
	By Pierre-Marie Bosc
30.	Nutrition-sensitive value chains from a smallholder perspective
	A framework for project design
	By Isabel de la Peña, James Garrett, Aulo Gelli
31.	
	Evidence from the Participatory Small-Scale Irrigation Development Programme (PASIDP)
	project in Ethiopia
	By Alessandra Garbero, Tisorn Songsermsawas
32.	
	An analysis of Ethiopian smallholders' income and food security
	By Esther Boere, Aline Mosnier, Géraldine Bocquého, Alessandra Garbero, Tamás Krisztin,
	Petr Havlík, Thomas Elhaut
33.	The impact of the adoption of CGIAR's improved varieties on poverty and welfare outcomes
	A systematic review
	By Alessandra Garbero, Pierre Marion and Valentina Brailovskaya
34.	Farm size and productivity
	Lessons from recent literature
	By Douglas Gollin



International Fund for Agricultural Development Via Paolo di Dono, 44 - 00142 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 06 54591 - Fax: +39 06 5043463 Email: ifad@ifad.org www.ifad.org

- f facebook.com/ifad
- instagram.com/ifadnews
- in linkedin.com/company/ifad
- twitter.com/ifad
- youtube.com/user/ifadTV

